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QUESTION 1

Wendy, a widow, owned a house in the city and a ranch in the country. She created a
valid inter vivos trust, naming herself and her daughter, Dot, as co-trustees, and
providing that she had the power to revoke or amend the trust at any time in writing, by
a document signed by her and delivered to her and Dot as co-trustees. At Wendy's
death, Dot was to become the sole trustee, and was directed to hold the assets in trust
for the benefit of Wendy's sister, Sis, until Sis's death. At Sis’s death, the trust was to
terminate and all assets be distributed to Dot. The sole asset in the trust was Wendy's
ranch.

Years later, Wendy prepared a valid will in which she stated, “I hereby revoke the trust |
previously established, and leave my house and my ranch to my son, Sam, as trustee,
to be held in trust for the benefit of my brother, Bob. Five years after my death the trust
shall terminate, and all assets then remaining in the trust shall be distributed outright to
Sam.”

Wendy died. Following her death, both Dot and Sam were surprised to find her will.

Dot has refused to serve as trustee under the inter vivos trust, and claims that, as a
result, the trust fails and that the ranch should immediately be given to her.

Sam has agreed to serve as trustee under the testamentary trust, and claims that the
ranch is part of the trust. Sam then sells the house, at fair market price, to himself in his
individual capacity, and invests all the assets of the trust into his new business, Sam'’s
Solar. Bob objects to sale of the house and to Sam’s investment.

1.  What interests, if any, do Dot, Sam, and/or Bob have in the house and the ranch?
Discuss.

2.  What duties, if any, has Sam violated as trustee of the testamentary trust, and
what remedies, if any, does Bob have against him? Discuss.



QUESTION 1: SELECTED ANSWER A

1. What interests held?
Dot
Valid trust

A valid trust is created when a settlor has the intent to give property (res) to the
beneficiary in a bifurcated transfer. The settlor gives the res to the trustee, who has
legal title, to hold for the benefit of the beneficiary, who holds equitable title. The trust
need not be in writing unless required to by the statute of frauds, for example
transferring an interest in land. The beneficiary need be ascertained but the trustee
does not have to be. The trust can be revocable or irrevocable and it is presumed

irrevocable unless otherwise stated.

Here, Wendy created a trust which had an ascertained beneficiary, her sister, and
named herself and her daughter, Dot, as trustees. The res is the ranch. She further
explicitly stated in the trust that it is revocable. The facts further state that the trust is a

valid inter vivos trust.

Revocation/Termination of trust

A trust can be revoked if the settlor is alive and has explicitly reserved the right to
revoke the trust. Otherwise it can only be terminated if the material purposes of the

trust have been fulfilled.

Here, Wendy explicitly reserved the right to revoke the trust. She further explicitly
stated the way in which the trust must be revoked. She stated that the trust can be
revoked or amended "at any time in writing, by a document signed by her and delivered
to her and Dot as co-trustees." Wendy later executed a valid will explicitly revoking the



trust. This satisfies the writing requirement. It can be assumed that the will was
“delivered” to Wendy because it was found at her death. However, the will was not
delivered to Dot. Dot and Sam were both surprised to find the will at Wendy's death and
it seems were surprised by its contents as well. It seems Wendy never gave Dot any
other writing indicating the revocation of the trust or informed her verbally. Since Dot
was not delivered a writing revoking the trust, and since that was one of the explicit
conditions upon which the trust could be revoked, the trust was not properly revoked by
the will. Therefore, the trust is still valid and still contains the ranch property.

Appointing a Trustee

A trust will fail if it does not have an ascertained beneficiary or if it does not have any
property currently in it, except for a pour-over trust. However, the trust will not fail if a
trustee has not been named or if a trustee either refuses to serve or needs to be
removed by the beneficiaries or the Court. The Court will appoint a trustee, or the

beneficiaries may vote on a trustee.

Here, Dot claims that she will refuse to serve as trustee and as a result the trust will fail.
This is not the case. Instead, the court will appoint a trustee to hold the res for the
benefit of Sis. Alternatively, Sis may argue that she should be allowed to vote for who
will be appointed trustee and the court may allow that as an alternative. Either way the

trust will not fail.

Remainder Interest

A remainder is a future interest that vests upon the termination of a life estate. It is

vested if the beneficiary is ascertained and there are no conditions precedent.

Here, the trust states that the res is to be used for the benefit of Sis until her death.
Upon the death of Sis all assets will be distributed to Dot. Dot is ascertained and there
are no conditions precedent to her taking; she will take immediately upon the death of



Sis. Therefore, Dot has a vested remainder interest in the trust property. Dot will
receive the trust property upon the death of Sis, but not before. Therefore, Dot does not
have any present possessory interest in the trust property but does have a future

interest as a remainder.

Sam

Valid Will

A formal valid will is created when there is a writing that is signed by the testator and
indicates present testamentary intent (intended this document to be her will) and is
witnessed by two witnesses who sign the document as well.

Here there are no facts as to whether or not witnesses signed but the facts do say that
Wendy prepared a valid will, therefore it can be assumed. Further it was in writing and

establishes present testamentary intent as it contemplates her death.

Pour-Over Trust

A trust can be created by the language of the will. Therefore, the property is held in
trust upon the death of the testator instead of being distributed through probate.

Here, Wendy created a pour-over trust when, in her will, she wrote that she leaves her
house and her ranch to her son Sam "as trustee, to be held for the benefit of my
brother, Bob." The will further states that five years after her death the trust shall
terminate and the remaining assets will be distributed to Sam.

Specific Devise/ Res of the pour-over trust

A specific devise is a devise of property that can be distinguished from the other assets
of the estate.



Here, Wendy left her house to Sam as trustee to be held for the benefit of Bob.
Although Wendy also indicated that she wished to leave her ranch as well, the will did
not properly revoke the prior trust (see argument above), so the ranch is not included in
the current pour-over trust.

Shifting Executory Interest

An executory interest is a future interest that will divest (cut off) a prior interest upon the
happening of a stated event. A shifting executory interest is one that divests a prior
grantee.

Here, Sam's interest will divest Bob's interest (a prior grantee) upon the happening of a
stated event (five years after Wendy's death). Therefore, Sam has a valid future
interest in the house.

Bob

Present possessory Interest subject to an executory interest

A present possessory interest is when a person has a current interest in property. It is
subject to an executory interest if it can be divested by a third party.

Here, Bob has a present possessory interest in the trust property. He does not have
legal title over it because that is held by the trustee, but he has the right to receive the
benefits of the trust as the beneficiary. He has this right until five years after Wendy's
death when it will be cut off by Sam's interest. Therefore, it is subject to an executory
interest.



2. What duties violated and what remedies available?

Duty of Loyalty

A trustee as a fiduciary has the duty of loyalty to the trust. He has the duty to act in a
reasonable manner to ensure the best interests of the trust beneficiaries. He can
violate this duty by self-dealing with the trust or by taking an action that would be
adverse to the trust beneficiaries.

Here, Sam has engaged in self-dealing of the trust property. He has sold the house to
himself in his individual capacity. Although he sold it at fair market price, this is still a
breach of the duty of loyalty. It is never considered reasonable for a trustee to engage
in self-dealing, unless the trust specifically states that he can do so and it still must be
fair to the beneficiaries. Here the power to engage in self-dealing was not explicitly
given to him in the trust. He further engaged in self-dealing by investing the assets of
the trust into his own business. By selling the house to himself and by investing the
assets in his own busineés, Sam has breached the duty of loyalty.

Duty of Care

A trustee also has the duty to act as a reasonable person would in caring for the trust.
He has the duty to use any special skills he may have and to treat the trust property as

his own in his care for it.

Here the duty of care was broken because it is not reasonable for a trustee to sell
assets of the trust to himself. It is further unreasonable to invest all the assets of the

trust property in a single business.



Duty to Invest

At common law a trustee was limited to a specified list of investments that he was
approved to make. Now trustees are expected to diversify investments in order to
spread the risk of loss and the whole portfolio will be considered.

Here, Sam did not diversify the investments. He invested all the trust assets into a
single business. This does not spread the risk of loss. If the business fails, the trust will

lose all of its assets. Sam has breached this duty.

Duty of impatrtiality

The trustee has the duty to fairly balance the trust assets so that the current
beneficiaries and remainder beneficiaries are treated fairly. The current beneficiary is
entitled to the income and the future beneficiary is entitled to the principal. The trustee
must make sure to balance the income and principal when making his investments so

that one does not increase drastically while the other depreciates.

Here Sam has not been impartial. He has sold the trust property to himself and
invested all of it in his own business. This may yield high income or it may not. Even if
this will benefit Bob more than it will benefit him, he still had the duty to be impartial
when making his investments so that neither the income nor the principal drastically

decreases. He has breached this duty.

Duty to inform beneficiaries

The trustee also has the duty to keep beneficiaries reasonably informed about major

decisions including the trust property.



Bob knows and objects to the sale of the house and the investment. It is unclear
whether Sam told him about this before taking the actions. [If he did not, he has
breached his duty to keep the beneficiary informed.

Removal as trustee

A trustee who breaches his duties may be removed as a trustee. A trustee can also be
removed for other reasons such as death or incapacity or if a serious conflict exists with
the beneficiary.

Here, Sam has breached a number of his duties as discussed above. Therefore, Bob
may seek to have him removed as a trustee and the court will likely approve it.

Monetary damages

A beneficiary is entitled to seek monetary damages from a trustee who has breached
his duty. He can seek damages that the trust would have been entitled to absent the
breach. He may be able to instead get unjust enrichment damages from the trustee.

Here, Bob can likely get either the profits that Sam received from the sale or of the
house and the investment in the business or he can receive the full value of the house
back.



QUESTION 2

Jack believed that extraterrestrial aliens had come to earth, were living undercover as
humans, and were planning a full-scale invasion in the future. Jack believed that his
next-door neighbor, Nancy, was one of these aliens.

One day, Nancy called Jack on the phone to complain that Jack's children were playing
in her yard. Jack yelled that his children could play wherever they wanted to. He also
said that he was going to kill her.

The next day, Nancy approached Jack, who was playing in his yard with his children.
She reminded him to keep his children out of her yard. Jack picked up a chainsaw and
said, "When the invasion comes, | am going to use this baby to cut off your head!"

From the other side of the street, Ben saw Jack angrily raise the chainsaw at Nancy.
Ben ran across the street and knocked Jack to the ground and injured him.

Later that week, Jack decided that he could wait no longer. He saw Nancy's car, which
he believed to be an alien spaceship, parked on the street. He snuck over to her car
and cut the brake lines, hoping Nancy would have a minor accident and be taught a
lesson.

Unaware that her car had been tampered with, Nancy lent it to Paul. When the brakes
failed to work, Paul drove off a mountain road and was severely injured.

1. What tort causes of action, if any, may Nancy bring against Jack, and how is each
likely to fare? Discuss.

2. What tort causes of action, if any, may Jack bring against Ben, and how is each
likely to fare? Discuss.

3. What tort causes of action, if any, may Paul bring against Jack, and how is each
likely to fare? Discuss.



QUESTION 2: SELECTED ANSWER B

1. Nancy's Tort Claims Against Jack

A. Assault for Threat over Telephone

Nancy may bring an assaulit claim against Jack for the threat to kill her that he made

over the phone, but this claim will not succeed.

To establish a prima facie case of assault, the plaintiff must show: (i) an act by the
defendant that brings about a reasonable apprehension in the plaintiff of an immediate
harmful or offensive contact to the plaintiff's person; (i) intent by the defendant to cause

such apprehension; and (iii) causation.

The facts show that while speaking over the phone, Jack told Nancy that he was going
to kill her. A threat to kill someone is generally enough to create a reasonable
apprehension in that person that they will suffer a harmful contact.

For the element of intent under most intentional torts, the defendant need not actually
intend the specific result, but rather just be substantially certain that such result is likely
to arise as a result of the act (general intent). Jack's intent to cause such apprehension
can be shown by the fact that he can be substantially certain a threat to kill someone
would cause them to fear a harmful contact. And causation may be shown because
Jack's threat was what caused the apprehension of an immediate harmful contact.

However, Nancy's claim for assault will fail because the intentional tort of assault
requires that the apprehension, or fear, be of an immediate harm. A threat of future
harm is not sufficient for the tort of assault. Moreover, the reasonable apprehension
may not be created by words alone--there must be some threatening act in addition to

the words.



Here, Nancy was speaking to Jack over the phone, and thus was not in his presence
when he made the threat. Therefore, her apprehension could not have been of an
immediate harm, because he was not present to execute on his threat. He would have
had to run next door to make good on his threat to kill her (at which point the threat

would have been immediate, but not until then).
B. Assault with Chainsaw

Nancy may also bring an assault claim for Jack's threat with the chainsaw. Here, Jack's
conduct amounted to more than a mere threat, as he was brandishing a chainsaw. The
combination of telling Nancy he would cut off Nancy's head while lifting a chainsaw is
certainly enough to cause a reasonable person to fear that she will suffer a harmful
contact--here, in the form of a chainsaw to the head.

Nancy will argue that the immediacy requirement is fulfilled because Jack is standing
right next to Nancy, and thus can cause the harm at that moment. However, Nancy is
likely to lose on this claim as well, because the existence of conditional words will
neutralize the immediacy of the threat. Jack told Nancy he will cut her head off "when
the invasion comes." Nancy probably has no idea what he is talking about and when
that invasion will supposedly arrive, but from Jack's words it seems clear that the
invasion will come in the future. Since he is threatening to cut off her head in the future,
there is no reasonable apprehension of an immediate contact to Nancy's person, and

thus no assault.
C. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (I|ED)
Nancy can bring IIED claims for both Jack's threat over the phone and the threat while

picking up the chainsaw, so long as she is able to show that she suffered severe
emotional distress as a result of such threats.



To establish a prima facie case of IIED, the plaintiff must show: (i) an act by the
defendant amounting to extreme and outrageous conduct; (i) intent by the defendant to
cause the plaintiff severe emotional distress; (iii) causation; and (iv) the plaintiff suffered
damages in the form of severe emotional distress.

Both the threat over the phone call and the threat in the yard amount to extreme and
outrageous conduct, because both involve threats to kill Nancy. A threat to Kkill
someone is definitely extreme and outrageous, and would shock the sensibilities of an

ordinary, reasonable person.

The intent element for IIED requires that the defendant intend to cause severe
emotional distress, or recklessness as to such a result. Here, the required consent will
be found via recklessness--Jack's threat to kill Nancy is a complete disregard of a
substantial risk that such a threat will cause his neighbor to fear for her life and safety,

and thus suffer severe emotional distress.

Nancy's only potential pitfall on this claim is that there is nothing in the facts that show
she suffered severe emotional distress. Such distress does not need to take the form of
a physical manifestation, but she does need to show substantial distress (e.g. severe
anxiety or fear for her life). Assuming she is able to show such distress, Nancy will

prevail on an IIED claim against Jack.
D. Conversion/Trespass to Chattels

Nancy can also bring a claim for conversion for Jack's act of cutting the brakes on her

car.

To establish a prima facie case of conversion, the plaintiff must show: (i) an act by the
defendant that interferes with the plaintiff's right of possession in a chattel; (ii) intent by

the defendant to so interfere; and (iii) causation.



The claim of trespass to chattels has the identical elements, the difference between the
torts being in degree of the interference. Conversion requires that the interference with
the plaintiff's possession interest be so substantial in quality or nature that it justifies
forcing the defendant to pay the full fair market value of the chattel, whereas a more
minor interference constitutes trespass to chattel (and Jack would need to pay only the
amount of damage caused by the interference).

Here, Jack cut the brakes on Nancy's car, which led the next person driving the car to
crash it and presumably damage it further. Thus causation is shown, and the facts
show Jack intentionally cut the brakes. Because of the severe damage to her car,
Nancy will be able to recover under conversion for its full value.

E. Trespass to Land

Finally, Nancy may bring an action against Jack for trespass since his kids were on her
property. However, this action is unlikely to succeed, since a parent is not vicariously
liable for the actions of his children. Nancy would need to bring this action against the
children themselves.

2. Jack's Tort Claims Against Ben

A. Battery for Tackle

To establish a prima facie case of battery, the plaintiff must show: (i) an act by the
defendant bringing about a harmful or offensive contact to the plaintiff's person; (ii)
intent by the defendant to bring about such contact; and (iii) causation.

Here, Ben tackled Jack to the ground and injured him, which shows a harmful contact

and causation. From the facts, it appears that Ben intended such a contact because he
ran across the street and knocked Jack to the ground to protect Nancy.



Jack will have a strong argument against the battery via defense of others. Defense of
others is a defense that will prevent Jack from succeeding on this claim. One has the
right to defend another if the defendant reasonably believes that that person would be
entitled to defend themselves. Here, Ben saw Jack raise the chainsaw and may have
even heard him threaten to cut off her head. A reasonable person would believe that
Nancy was in danger, and thus Ben acted reasonably by defending her. He used non-
deadly force in confronting Jack's potentially deadly force, and thus the type of force he

used was appropriate.
Thus Ben will not be liable for battery.
B. Trespass to Land

Jack may also bring a claim for trespass to land against Ben for running onto his
property. To show this tort, the plaintiff must show that the defendant interfered with his
possession of land; intent; and causation. By intentionally running onto his property,
Jack will claim Ben committed this tort.

However, Ben will argue that he was justified in running on his property as a result of a
public necessity. A public necessity creates an absolute privilege to enter the land of
another. Here, the necessity was Nancy's potential decapitation. Thus Ben will not be
liable for this tort.

3. Paul's Tort Actions Against Jack
A. Battery
Paul should bring an action against Jack for battery (see elements above). Paul will

show that by cﬁtting the brakes on the car, Jack was substantially certain that a harmful

contact would arise in the person of the driver.



Transferred Intent

While Jack may argue that he only intended to harm Nancy, rather than Paul, the
doctrine of transferred intent will provide the intent needed to find Jack liable for the tort
of battery against Paul.

Under this doctrine, when a person intends to commit an intentional tort against
another, but instead: a different tort results against that same person; the same tort
arises against a different person; or a different tort arises against a different person; the
tortfeasor's initial intent to commit the first tort will provide the requisite intent for the
second tort. Transferred intent is available for the intentional tort of battery.

Here, Jack intended to cause a harmful contact to Nancy. The fact that Paul was the
first to drive the car, rather than Nancy, will not relieve Jack of liability. Jack's intent to
harm Paul will be found via the doctrine of transferred intent, and Jack will be liable for

battery.

Defense of Insanity

Jack may argue he did not have the intent necessary to commit the tort because of his
insanity, given his belief that the car was an alien spaceship. However, insanity is not a
defense to an intentional tort unless the mental defect is such that the tortfeasor does
not understand the nature of his act. Here, Jack was aware that he was cutting the
brakes with intent to harm Nancy, and thus insanity will not be a valid defense.



QUESTION 3

Contractor and Lawyer had been in a consensual sexual relationship for months.
Contractor could not afford to hire an experienced lawyer to defend him against
Plaintiff's complex construction defect case and to bring a cross-complaint. Contractor
told Lawyer, who had never handled such matters, that he wouldn't sue her for
malpractice if she would defend him for half her regular rate. Lawyer felt pressured
because of their relationship.

Lawyer told Contractor she would defend him for half-price, but she would only bring his
cross-complaint on contingency at her regular rate of 30 percent of any recovery.
Contractor agreed. Although they continued to have sexual relations, their personal
relationship deteriorated. Lawyer forgot to make a scheduled court appearance in the
case.

At trial Plaintiff lost, and Contractor won $100,000 on his cross-complaint. Lawyer
deposited the $100,000 in her Client Trust Account. She told Contractor she would
send him $70,000. Contractor said Lawyer must send an additional $15,000 because
she agreed to represent him for half-price on everything, including the contingency fee.

1. Did Lawyer commit any ethical violation by agreeing to represent Contractor?
Discuss.

2. Did Lawyer commit any ethical violation by failing to make the court appearance?
Discuss.

3. What should Lawyer do with the money in the Client Trust Account? Discuss.

Answer according to California and ABA authorities.



QUESTION 3: SELECTED ANSWER B

Consensual Sexual Relationship

Under the ABA Model Rules (ABA), it is permissible for an attorney to represent a client
with whom she has a pre-existing relationship, as long as the sexual relationship will not
compromise the attorney's competence or duty of loyalty to the client. However, the
ABA, lawyers may not enter into sexual relationships with clients that begin after they
take on the clients. In California, attorneys may carry on sexual relationships that pre-
existed the lawyer-client relationship, as well as being sexual relationships during the
pendency of the representation, as long as competence and loyalty are not
compromised. In addition, under CA rules, an attorney cannot condition acceptance of
a client on agreement to have sex with the attorney. Here, the contractor and the
lawyer had a preexisting sexual relationship, so their relationship did not automatically
violate ABA or CA rules. However, the sexual relationship may have violated both ABA
and CA rules because it conflicted with the duties of competence and loyalty (see

below).

Duty of Competence

An attorney has a duty to competently represent her client which means using the
knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the
representation. However, an attorney is permitted to take a case which she might not
otherwise be competent to take if she can acquire through study the skills/knowledge
necessary to represent the client and/or work with another attorney who specializes in
that area.

Here, the attorney had never handled a complex construction defect case before. Thus,
it appears she was not competent at the outset to do so. We have nothing in the facts



to indicate that the attorney studied day and night to become reasonably competent to
represent her client in this matter. And she did not partner with another attorney with
expertise in construction defect cases.

Therefore, she violated her duty of competency when she agreed to represent

contractor.

In addition, it appears that lawyer's pre-existing sexual relationship with client
encouraged her to take a case for which she was not competent ("Lawyer felt pressured
because of their relationship” may refer to taking the case as well as the fee she
accepted.) Therefore, the lawyer also violated the duty not to let sexual relationships
with clients interfere with your work, in violation of both ABA and CA rules.

Agreement not to sue for malpractice

Under ABA rules, a client can only contract away her right to sue an attorney for
malpractice if the she is represented by outside counsel and agrees in writing. CA rules
prohibit attorneys from contracting out of malpractice liability under any circumstances.

Here, Lawyer violated both ABA and CA rules. There is nothing on the facts to indicate
that client was represented by outside counsel when he agreed not to sue for
malpractice, or that the agreement was in writing. Thus, the ABA rules were violated.
Because it is an agreement to limit malpractice liability the attorney violated CA law
when she agreed to take on the case on this basis.

Duty of Loyalty

The duty of loyalty is always potentially implicated when a client and a lawyer have a
sexual relationship. The duty of loyalty requires an attorney to avoid conflicts of
interest. A conflict of interest exists when the interests of another client, a third party or
the attorney herself are adverse to materially conflict with those of the client. Here,



there is a potential conflict of interest between the lawyer's personal interest (her
relationship with the client) and the representation. Under the ABA, when a conflict
exists, an attorney can only represent a client if she reasonably believes she can do so
competently, she discloses the conflict to the client, and gets the client's consent in
writing. In CA, the belief need not be reasonable but only sincerely held, and personal
conflicts only require written disclosure, not written, consent. Here, the attorney should
have disclosed. the nature of the potential conflict and gotten written consent at the
outset (ABA). If she reasonably believed she could represent the client she could have
done so with written consent, but here her belief would not be reasonable because she
already felt pressured at the outset. Therefore, she violated ABA rules by taking on the
case. Under CA rules, she would have had to provide only written disclosure (there is
no indication of this on the facts) and the fact that her belief she could competently
represent him would not matter. However, mere failure to provide written disclosure
means that she already violated the CA duty of loyalty when she took the

representation.

Fee agreement

Under the ABA, fee agreements must be reasonable. They don't have to be in writing,
unless they are contingency agreements, in which case they must state the percentage
of the attorney's fee, what expenses will be deducted, whether expenses will be
deducted before the attorney's fee, and must be signed by the client. Under CA rules,
all agreements over $1000, not with corporate clients, regular clients, or under exigent
circumstances must be in writing. In addition to the ABA contingency fee requirements,
CA contingency fees must include in writing that attorney fees are negotiable and state
how non-covered services will be paid. In addition, the entire fee must not be

unconscionable.

Here, attorney agreed to defend client at half her regular price, but his cross-complaint
on a 30% contingency basis. Under ABA rules, the first part of the agreement did not
need to be in writing but the second part did. There is no indication of a writing;



therefore the contingency agreement violated ABA rules. In addition, the agreement
was probably per se unreasonable because it was the result of duress or undue
influence exerted by the client.

Under CA rules, the whole agreement would have to be in writing unless they regularly
worked together as lawyer-client or the first part was under $1000. Definitely the
second contingency part had to be in writing, as it was not here, and lacked everything
required in CA. In addition, despite the fact that 30% seems reasonable, it may be
considered unconscionable because it was agreed to under duress and undue

influence.

2. Failure to make court appearance

When the attorney failed to make the court appearance, she violated her duty of loyalty
and competence to the client, and duty to pursue the case diligently. She didn't come to
court due to what appears to be the deterioration of the sexual relationship. This means
that she violated the duty not to let sexual relationships interfere with the representation,
as well as the duty not to let her personal interests conflict with those of her client. In
addition, she failed to pursue her case diligently in violation of her duty to her client and
to the judicial system.

3. When there is a dispute over fees, the lawyer must retain the disputed portion in the
client trust account pending resolution of the dispute. Here, the lawyer can send the
70k to the client, but must retain the additional 15k in the client trust account until the

dispute is resolved.



QUESTION 4

Pop obtained a liability insurance policy from Insurco, covering his daughter Sally and
any other driver of either of his cars, a Turbo and a Voka. The policy limit was
$100,000. '

On the application for the policy, Pop stated that his cars were driven in Hometown, a
rural community, which resulted in a lower rate than if they were driven in a city.
However, Sally kept and also drove the Voka in Industry City while attending college
there.

Subsequently, Pop asked Insurco to increase his coverage to $500,000; Insurco agreed
if he paid a premium increase of $150; and he did so. Days later, as he was leaving for
Sally’s graduation, Pop received an amended policy. He failed to notice that the
coverage had been increased to $250,000, not $500,000.

Unfortunately, while driving the Turbo in Industry City, Pop caused a multi-vehicle
collision. At first, Insurco stated it would pay claims, but only up to $250,000. Six
months later, Insurco informed Pop that it would not pay any claim at all, because of his
statement on the application for the policy that both the Turbo and the Voka were
located in Hometown.

Insurco filed a complaint against Pop for rescission of the policy. Pop filed a cross-
complaint to reform the policy to increase coverage to $500,000.

1.  What is the likelihood of success of Insurco’s complaint, and what defenses can
Pop reasonably raise? Discuss.

2. What is the likelihood of success of Pop’s cross-complaint, and what defenses can
Insurco reasonably raise? Discuss.



QUESTION 4: SELECTED ANSWER A

(1) Likelihood of Success of Insurco’s Complaint for Rescission

Rescission Generally

Rescission is an equitable remedy, under which a court will invalidate a contract in its
entirety, such that the parties to the contract are completely excused from continued
performance under the contract. Generally, rescission is available when one party has
a valid defense to the formation of the contract. Moreover, typically only the wronged
party can seek rescission.

Because rescission is an equitable remedy, a court has broad discretion in deciding
whether it should be awarded. The court will consider the equities of the situation,
taking into account the faimess of rescission to both parties. In addition, as an
equitable remedy, rescission is subject to equitable defenses, such as acquiescence,

estoppel, laches, and unclean hands.

Here, Insurco seeks rescission of the insurance policy so that it will not be required to

reimburse Pop for his liability.

Insurco's Likely Grounds for Rescission

Fraud/Misrepresentation

Insurco's primary grounds for rescission will likely be on the basis of fraud. A contract
may be invalid on the basis of fraud where: (1) a party made a false statement of past or
present fact; (2) the statement was either fraudulent or was material to the contract; and
(3) the other party relied on that statement of fact in entering into the contract.



Insurco can likely make out a claim of fraud under the facts of this case. Here, in
applying for the liability insurance, Pop made a misstatement of fact--i.e., that his cars
were driven solely in Hometown, a rural community. This was a false statement
because one of his cars was driven by his daughter, Sally, in Industry City. Moreover,
Pop was driving the other car in Industry City when he was involved in the collision.

Second, this statement may be deemed fraudulent, as it can probably be shown that
Pop was aware of the falsity of the statement. It is very likely that Pop knew that the car
was not being used solely in Hometown, as his daughter, Sally, used the car while she
was attending college in Industry. Moreover, pop certainly knew that he was driving the
Turbo in Industry City when he was involved in the accident.

Even if Insurco cannot establish that the statement was fraudulent, the elements of
fraud are still likely established because it is clear that this statement was material to the
contract. The location of the use of the cars appears to be a key factor in determining
the insurance rates, and indeed, the facts make clear that Pop received a lower rate
given this false statement of fact.

For this same reason, Insurco can establish that it relied on Pop's false statement in
entering into the contract. As made clear in the facts, Insurco would not have entered
into the contract at that lower rate, had it been aware that the car was used in Industry
City.

Notably, this original contract is not the one Pop is intending to enforce. Rather, he is
attempting to enforce the amended contract, in which Pop sought to increase his
coverage. Because Pop paid consideration for this increase in coverage ($150), this
modification of the contract is valid under the common law. In any event, this amended
contract is subject to the same claim of rescission as the original contract, as there is no
indication that Pop corrected his false statement when requesting the amended
contract. Thus, Insurco's same arguments for establishing fraud discussed above apply

equally with respect to the amended contract.



Accordingly, Insurco has a strong case for seeking rescission on the basis of fraud or
misrepresentation.

Mistake

Insurco also may seek to rescind the contract on the basis of mistake. Under the
doctrine of mutual mistake, a contract may be invalidated where both parties are
mistaken about a material fact, that is, a fact that was a basic assumption of the
contract. Under the doctrine of unilateral mistake, a contract may be invalidated where
one party is mistaken about a material fact underlying the contract, and the other party
knows or has reason to know about that mistake.

Here, to the extent Pop was unaware that Sally was using the car in Industry City, and
somehow unaware that he was driving the car in Industry City when he entered into the
accident, both he and Insurco were mistaken about this fact. Thus, the doctrine of
mutual mistake of fact may be found to apply.

Moreover, to the extent Pop was aware of Sally's use of the car, or his use of the car in
Industry City, he clearly also knew that Insurco would be mistaken as to this fact, given
his false statement in applying for the insurance. Accordingly, under that scenario, the
doctrine of unilateral mistake may apply. Note that unilateral mistake can serve as
grounds for rescission of the contract only where the unmistaken party had actual
knowledge of the other party's mistake.

However, because this situation involves a false statement of fact, this issue is more
properly analyzed under the doctrine of fraud, for the reasons discussed above.

Pop's Likely Defenses

As noted above, a court will consider any equitable defenses before choosing to order

rescission of a contract.



Laches

Pop will first rely on the equitable doctrine of laches. That defense applies where a
claimant unreasonably delays in bringing suit, and where that suit prejudices the
plaintiff.

Here, Pop will argue that Insurco's delay in bringing suit for rescission of the contract--
six months after the accident, and even longer after Pop entered into the contract with
Insurco--was unreasonable. The facts here are unclear as to the reasonableness of this
delay, as it is not clear when Insurco became aware of Pop's misstatement. Given the
fact that Pop's accident occurred in Industry City, however, there is a strong argument
to be made that Insurco should have been aware of the use of Pop's cars in Industry
City at the time Pop made his claim for reimbursement. Thus, Pop may be able to show
the delay was unreasonable.

That said, there is no evidence that the Pop was prejudiced by the delay. Pop clearly
will be prejudiced by not receiving payment for his liability, but there is no indication that
the delay itself in seeking rescission caused Pop any harm. Thus, the defense of
laches is likely unavailable.

Acquiescence

Pop may also rely on the equitable doctrine of acquiescence, which serves as a
defense where the plaintiff has previously acquiesced to similar conduct on the part of

the defendant for which the plaintiff is now seeking relief.

Here, Pop will argue that this defense is appropriate because Insurco has not previously
objected to coverage on the basis of Pop's misstatement in applying for coverage, and
that Insurco stated that it would pay his claims. However, Insurco will respond that it
had no reason to be aware of Pop's misstatement until Pop sought reimbursement
under the policy, and that this is the first time Pop has sought such reimbursement.



Insurco likely has the better argument here, given that it has never previously paid Pop
under the policy in spite of the misrepresentation.

Unclean Hands

Unclean hands is an equitable defense available where the plaintiff has engaged in
some wrongful or inequitable conduct with respect to the same underlying transaction
for which the plaintiff is seeking relief.

Here, Pop may attempt to point to Insurco's previous statement that it would pay out on
Pop's claim, and then its reversal of course. However, a court is unlikely to deem this
inequitable or wrongful conduct, especially if Insurco was not aware of Pop's initial
misstatement when it first agreed to pay Pop's claims.

Estoppel

Estoppel is an equitable defense available where a defendant reasonably, foreseeably,
and detrimentally relied on a plaintiffs statement that the plaintiffs conduct is
permissible, and where it is equitable to enforce that promise.

Pop will attempt to argue that Insurco is estopped from refusing to pay out on the claim,
given its previous statement to Pop that it would reimburse him for his claim. However,
there are no facts indicating that Pop relied on this promise to his detriment. Rather, the
only harm Pop appears to have suffered is the fact that Insurco refuses to pay out on
his claim. The facts do not indicate that Pop changed his position in any way in

reasonable reliance on Insurco's promise itself.

Thus, this defense is unlikely to succeed.



(2) Likelihood of Success of Pop's Cross-Complaint for Reformation

Reformation Generally

Like rescission, reformation is also an equitable remedy. However, under the doctrine
of reformation, a court will not invalidate the contract in its entirety, but rather will rewrite
the contract to conform it to the parties’ original intent. Moreover, like rescission,
reformation is typically only available to the wronged party.

Again, because reformation is an equitable remedy, a court has broad discretion in
deciding whether it should be awarded, taking account all of the equities. Reformation
too is subject to equitable defenses, such as acquiescence, estoppel, laches, and
unclean hands.

Pop's Likely Grounds for Reformation

Mistake

Pop will likely seek rescission on the doctrine of mutual mistake. As discussed above,
that doctrine applies where both parties are mistaken about a material fact--i.e., a fact
that was a basic assumption of the contract.

Here, the elements of that doctrine appear to épply. It seems that both parties intended
that the amended contract increase the coverage limit to $500,000, as opposed to
$250,000. In reducing the contract to writing, it appears that a clerical error was made,
and that the contract was mistakenly written to state that the limit is $250,000. This
appears to have been a mutual mistake, as the facts indicate that both parties initially
intended that the limit be $500,000. Moreover, the mistake clearly regards a basic
assumption of the contract, as a liability limit is one of the key elements of an insurance

contract.



The doctrine does not apply where the party seeking to reform the contract assumed
the risk of the mistake. That exception does not apply here, however, as it was Insurco,
not Pop, who drafted the contract.

Accordingly, Pop has likely made out a prima facie case for mistake, and a court will
likely reform the contract to make it consistent with the parties’ intent that the liability
limit be $500,000.

Insurco's Likely Defenses

Parol Evidence

Insurco may first rely on the parol evidence rule, which generally holds that where a
contract is integrated (intended by the parties to be a final agreement), a party may not
admit evidence of a prior agreement that is inconsistent with the contract's terms.

However, there is an exception to the parol evidence rule where a party seeks to
provide evidence of mistake or clerical errors in reducing the contract to writing. This
exception will apply here.

Unclean Hands

As noted above, the equitable defense of unclean hands applies where the plaintiff has
engaged in some wrongful or inequitable conduct with respect to the same underlying
transaction for which the plaintiff is seeking relief.

Here, Insurco has strong arguments for application of this defense, given that it can
likely show that Pop fraudulently induced the contract. For the reasons discussed
above, this claim will likely succeed. Accordingly, Pop's wrongful conduct in inducing

the contract will likely serve as a defense to any claim for reformation.



Acquiescence and Laches

Insurco may also assert the defense of acquiescence and laches, the elements of which
are discussed above.

With respect to both of these defenses, Insurco will argue Pop did not seek to reform
the contract untii many months after the amended policy went into effect, thus
prejudicing Insurco. Insurco will focus on the fact that Pop had the policy in his
possession at this time, and easily could have become aware of the mistake and sought

reformation at an earlier time.

However, this argument is unlikely to be successful. A court will likely note that Insurco
had a greater ability to have found the mistake, given that it was the party that reduced
the contract to writing. Moreover, there do not appear to be facts indicating that Insurco
was prejudiced by Pop's delay in seeking rescission.



QUESTION 5

Mike, Sue, Pam, David, and Ed worked at Ace Manufacturing Company. Mike had
been the president and Sue supervised Pam, David, and Ed.

Pam was fired. A week later, David circulated the following email to all the other
employees:

I just thought you should know that Pam was fired because she is a thief.

Sue caught her stealing money from the petty cash drawer after Pam’s

affair with Mike ended.
A month later, Mike died.
Pam sued David for defamation.
At trial, Pam testified that, although it is true she was fired, the remaining contents of the
email were false. Pam called Ed, who testified that he had received the email at work,
that he had printed it, and that he had received hundreds of other unrelated emails from
David. Pam introduced a copy of the email through Ed.
In defense, David called Sue, who testified that she had caught Pam stealing $300 from
the petty cash drawer, and that, when Sue confronted Pam and accused her of taking
the money, Pam simply walked away. David himself testified that the contents of the
email were true. He also testified that he had overheard Pam and Mike yelling at each
other in Mike’s office a few weeks before Pam left; that he recognized both of their
voices; and that he heard Pam cry, “Please don't leave mel,” and Mike, in a measured
tone, reply, “Our affair is over — you need to get on with your life.”
Assume all appropriate objections were timely made.
Should the court have admitted:
1. The email? Discuss.
2. Sue's testimony? Discuss.
3. David’s testimony about

a. what Pam said to Mike? Discuss.

b. what Mike said to Pam? Discuss.

Answer according to the California Evidence Code.



QUESTION 5: SELECTED ANSWER B

California Evidence Code & Truth in Evidence (Prop 8)

The California Evidence Code (CEC) governs the admission of evidence in California
state courts. A constitutional amendment called the Truth in Evidence Amendment
(Prop 8) was passed in the 1980s. Prop 8 applies only in criminal cases. It provides
that all relevant evidence in California is admissible notwithstanding CEC rules to the
contrary. Prop 8 has a number of exclusions, however: (1) hearsay rules; (2) the
confrontation clause; (3) CEC 352 (balancing test); (4) privileges; (5) character
evidence; (6) the secondary evidence rule.

Because this is a civil lawsuit and not a criminal lawsuit, Prop 8 does not apply.

1. The Email

e Logical relevance

In order for evidence to be admissible, it must be logically relevant. That means that it
must have the tendency to make any fact of consequence to the dispute more or less
probable than without the evidence. Under the CEC, the fact must also be in
dispute. Here, the email is logically relevant because it constitutes the basis of the
lawsuit and is actually in dispute.

e Legal relevance

In order for evidence to be admissible, it must also be legally relevant, as tested under
CEC 352. In order to be legally relevant, the probative value of the evidence must not
be substantially outweighed by undue prejudice, waste of time, or confusion. In
addition, there must not be any policy exclusions that might apply to prevent
introduction of the evidence (such as prior offers to settle, etc.). Here, the email is



legally relevant because its probative value--whether it supports a case for defamation--
is not outweighed by undue prejudice, waste of time, or confusion.

o Authentication

In order for relevant tangible evidence to be admissible, it must also be
authenticated. The standard for testing this is whether it is sufficient to sustain a finding
of authenticity. A number of different kinds of authentication evidence are permissible:
(1) personal knowledge; (2) circumstantial evidence; (3) expert testimony; (4)
admission, etc. Here, Ed introduced the email. He testified that he had received the
email at work and printed it, and that he had received hundreds of other unrelated
emails from David. While it would be preferable to have David authenticate the mail he
wrote, this authentication is likely sufficient to sustain a finding of authenticity.

e Secondary Evidence Rule

When the contents of a writing are at the heart of the matter, the secondary evidence
rule requires that either an original or duplicate of the document be introduced into
evidence (or testimony where the original is unavailable). In California, a duplicate can
be: (1) photocopy; (2) carbon copy; or (3) handwritten copy (not true in FRE). Here, the
contents of the email are relevant to defamation cause of action. This printing of the
email is essentially a photocopy and would satisfy the secondary evidence rule.

¢ Independent Legal Significance
Pam might argue that the email is not hearsay because it has independent legal

significance. Indeed, because this is a defamation action and the email is the

defamatory statement, this is likely to be successful.



o Layered Hearsay

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted. It is
generally inadmissible unless it falls within an exception. (The FRE has both
exemptions and exceptions, but the CEC only has exceptions.) Here, if the email were
not admitted as having independent legal significance, the email is layered hearsay so
both the email itself and the statement contained therein must fall admissible under an

exception.

e Email: Business Record

A business record is: (1) a recording of an event or condition; (2) made by someone
with personal knowledge; (3) made at or near the time the event; (4) kept in the ordinary
course of business. Here, the email would not qualify as a business record because
David was under no business duty to send this email.

o Statements in Email: Admission by Party Opponent
A statement being offered against a party is an admission by a party opponent. The
statement need not have been against the party's interest at the time it was made to

qualify. Here, David's statement is being offered against him, and thus it would be

admissible as an admission by a party opponent.

e Conclusion

The email will be admissible because it has independent legal significance and is thus

not hearsay.



2. Sue's Testimony
e Logical Relevance

See rule above. This evidence is logically relevant because it has the tendency to make
a fact of consequence that is in dispute (whether Pam is a thief) more or less probable.

e Legal Relevance

See rule above. This evidence is legally relevant because its probative value--whether
Pam is a thief--is not outweighed by undue prejudice, waste of time, or confusion. Pam
may argue that this is unduly prejudicial because it paints her as a thief, but she has
asserted that the statement in the email is false, and thus the court will allow it.

e Competence

For a witness to be competent to testify, she must have personal knowledge, present
recollection, the ability to communicate, and understand that she is under a legal duty to
tell the truth. These factors appear to be met -- Sue has personal knowledge of her
interaction with Pam and appears to have a present recollection of the
interaction. Furthermore, there is nothing to indicate that she lacks the ability to
communicate or that she doesn't understand her legal duty to tell the truth. Sue is

competent to testify.
e Character Evidence: Pam Stealing $300 of Petty Cash

Character evidence is evidence that tends to convey a moral judgment about
someone. The testimony about Pam stealing $300 from the petty cash drawer is
character evidence. In California, character evidence in civil cases is inadmissible to
prove circumstantial evidence of guilt (there are no exceptions like under the
FRE). However, character evidence is admissible if it is in issue, as is the case



here. This is a defamation case where Pam has alleged that David's statement calling
her a thief is false. Therefore, evidence of her being a thief is highly probative and
directly in issue. Thus, the court will allow Sue's testimony that Pam stole $300 of petty
cash.

[Note that this could also be considered impeachment evidence. Pam has testified that
the contents of the email were false. Specific incidents can be used to impeach a
witness, and this would also be appropriate impeachment evidence.]

e Sue's statement accusing Pam of Taking the Money: Not Hearsay

Sue's statement accusing Pam of taking the money is not hearsay because it is not
being offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Instead, it is being offered to show its
effect on the listener (Pam).

o Sue's statement that Pam walked away: Hearsay

Sue also seeks to testify about Pam walking away when accused of a crime. This
statement is hearsay. Hearsay encompasses all assertive conduct, which is conduct
that is intended to communicate something. Thus, unless it falls within a hearsay
exception, this statement which is being offered for the truth of the matter asserted (that
she would not have walked away if she weren't guilty) is hearsay.

e Admission by Party Opponent: Adoptive Admission

A statement being offered against a party is an admission by a party opponent. The
statement need not have been against the party's interest at the time it was made to
qualify. Adoptive admissions occur where a party is accused or confronted and we
would expect them to deny a statement but instead they remain silent, implicitly

adopting the statement. Here, we would expect an innocent party accused of stealing



to defend herself if it were not true. By simply walking away, Pam has adopted the
statement.

e Conclusion

Sue's testimony about Pam stealing $300 of petty cash is admissible because it is
character evidence that is in issue in a defamation case; her statement to Pam accusing
her of taking the money is not hearsay because it is offered to show its effect on the
listener; her statement about Pam's reaction is admissible as an adoptive admission by
a party opponent.

3a. David's Testimony About What Pam Said to Mike

e Logical Relevance

See rule above. This evidence is logically relevant because it relates to whether Pam
was having an affair with Mike, a key subject of the defamation action and one that is

hotly contested.

o L egal Relevance
See rule above. This evidence is legally relevant because its probative value—whether
Pam was having an affair with Mike--is not outweighed by undue prejudice, waste of
time, or confusion.

o Authentication
In order for this testimony to be admissible, David must be able to authenticate that it

was, indeed, Pam speaking. The standard for testing this is whether it is sufficient to
sustain a finding of authenticity. Here, David is presumably familiar with Pam's voice



and has heard it many times before. This will be adequate to sustain a finding of
authenticity.

e Hearsay
See rule above. This evidence is being offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted

(i.e., that Pam was having an affair with Mike). Thus, unless an exception applies, it is
inadmissible.

e Hearsay Exception: Admission by Party Opponent
A statement being offered against a party is an admission by a party opponent. This
statement, made by Pam, is being offered against her. It is thus admissible as an
admission by a party opponent.

¢ Hearsay Exception: Excited Utterance
An excited utterance is a statement made relating to a startling event or condition made
while under the stress or excitement of that event or condition. A declarant's availability
is irrelevant. Here, Pam cried in what appears to be an excited voice: "Please don't
leave me!" This may qualify as an excited utterance, but the better fit is an admission
by a party opponent.

¢ No privileges

Because Pam and David are not married, there are no privileges that might apply to this

otherwise confidential communication.

e Conclusion

This testimony is admissible as an admission by a party opponent.



3b. David's Testimony About What Mike Said to Pam

e Logical Relevance

See rule above. This evidence is logically relevant because it relates to whether Pam
was having an affair with Mike, a key subject of the defamation action and one that is
hotly contested.

e Legal Relevance
See rule above. This evidence is logically relevant because it relates to whether Pam
was having an affair with Mike, a key subject of the defamation action and one that is
hotly contested.

e Authentication

See rule above. Here, David is presumably familiar with Mike's voice and has heard it
many times before. This will be adequate to sustain a finding of authenticity.

e Hearsay

See rule above. This evidence is being offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted
(i.e., that Pam was having an affair with Mike). Thus, unless an exception applies, it is

inadmissible.

¢ Declaration Against Interest

A declaration against interest is a statement made by an unavailable declarant that was
against his interest at the time it was made and that the declarant knew was against his
interest at the time it was made. In California, it can be against a person's penal,

financial, or social interest. A statement is against someone's social interest if it would



subject them to hatred, ridicule, or disgust. Declarations against interest are only
admissible where a declarant is unavailable. A declarant can be unavailable due to
death, inability to secure their presence through reasonable process, total memory
failure, privileges, or their refusal to testify out of fear and despite a court order.

Here, Mike died and is thus unavailable. The statement by Mike ("Our affair is over") is
against his social interest. He was acknowledging that he was having an affair with
Pam in the first place. Thus the first part of his statement "Our affair is over" is

admissible as a declaration against interest.
¢ Dying Declaration

A dying declaration is a statement made by a declarant while he thought he was
imminently dying and describing the conditions or circumstances of his death. The
declarant must be unavailable, and in California the declarant must have actually died
and it can be used in either civil or criminal cases. This statement does not appear to
be while David thought he was dying or about the conditions and circumstances
surrounding his death. It is thus inadmissible as a dying declaration.

e Excited Utterance

See rule above. This exception does not apply because the facts state that David
responded "in a measured tone." Therefore, he was not under the stress or excitement

of an event.

e Present State of Mind

A statement describing a person's present state of mind (usually statements like "I
intend" or "l plan") are admissible as hearsay exceptions regardless of the declarant's
availability. Here, the first part of the statement may also qualify under the present state
of mind exception because it is demonstrating that David intends to end the



affair. Nonetheless, the declaration against interest exception is the best fit for this
statement.

¢ No privileges

Because Pam and David are not married, there are no privileges that might apply to this
otherwise confidential communication.

e Conclusion
This testimony "Our affair is over" is admissible as a declaration against interest. The

second half of the testimony “you need to get on with your life" may be admissible only
if it is being offered to show the effect on the listener, Pam.



QUESTION 6

On February 1, Bing Surfboards (“Bing”) ordered 400 gallons of epoxy from Super
Chemicals (“Super”) using its standard purchase order. Bing's purchase order provided
that delivery would be no later than February 20, but stated nothing about warranties,
disclaimers, or remedies. Super responded with its standard acknowledgment, which
purported to accept the order and confirmed that delivery would be no later than
February 20. It also provided: (1) “Seller disclaims all warranties of merchantability and
fitness.” (2) “In no event shall Seller be liable for consequential damages.” (3) “This
acceptance is expressly made conditional on your assent to the terms of this
acceptance.”

On February 15, Bing received the epoxy.

On February 20, Bing tested the epoxy by manufacturing 50 surfboards. The epoxy did
not harden properly, leaving the surfboards useless.

On February 23, Bing emailed Super stating that the epoxy had failed to harden
properly and that it was returning the remaining epoxy.

On February 25, not having heard from Super, Bing bought 400 gallons of epoxy from
one of Super's competitors, paying a substantially higher price for quick delivery, which
was necessary to avoid a shutdown of Bing’s preduction line.

On February 26, Super informed Bing that it was shipping replacement epoxy to arrive
the following day. The original epoxy had failed to harden because of manufacturing
defects of which Super was unaware. Although the replacement epoxy was not
defective, Bing rejected delivery and refused to pay.

Bing has sued Super for the increased price of epoxy it had to pay to Super's
competitor, and for loss due to 50 defective surfboards.

Super has sued Bing for rejecting its replacement shipment and for not paying under the
contract.

1. Is Bing likely to prevail in its suit? Discuss.

2. Is Super likely to prevail in its suit? Discuss.



QUESTION 6: SELECTED ANSWER B

Governing Law

All contracts except for contracts for the sale of goods are governed by the common
law. Contracts for the sale of goods are governed by Article 2 of the UCC. Article 2 of
the UCC provides special rules for contracts between merchants. Here, the contract
was for the sale of a movable good, epoxy. A merchant is an entity that regularly deals
in goods of the kind in question. Here, Bing regularly ordered epoxy as part of its
manufacturing and Super regularly sold epoxy. Therefore, both parties were merchants
and the special rules for merchants applied.

Formation of Contract

Offer and Acceptance

To be valid a contract must contain an offer and acceptance as well as mutual assent.
An offer is an expression of intent to enter into a contract, communicated to the offeree,
as by making a promise, undertaking, or commitment. The terms of the offer must be
sufficiently definite to enable a court to enforce the resulting contract. For a contract for
the sale of goods, an offer must indicate the subject mattei' of the contract and contain a
quantity term. An offer is accepted by an expression of assent to the terms of the offer

communicated to the offeror.

Here, Bing made a valid offer to Super, indicating the subject matter, epoxy, and the
quantity, 400 gallons. Further, Bing indicated an intent to enter into a contract. Super's
acknowledgment, however, did not constitute an acceptance. Under the UCC, the
"battle of the forms" provision controls the terms of a contract when the terms of the
acceptance vary from the offer. Here, Super's acceptance contained additional terms to
the contract. Ordinarily, additional terms to the contract will become a part of the



contract, unless 1) the terms materially modify the contract, 2) the offer expressly limits
acceptance to its terms, or 3) the offeror has objected or objects to the additional terms
within a reasonable time. If an acceptance indicates that it is conditional on assent to
additional terms, it is not construed as an acceptance, but as a rejection and a
counteroffer. Therefore, Super's acknowledgment was not an acceptance of Bing's
offer, but rather a rejection and counteroffer. Because Bing did not accept the
counteroffer, a contract could only be formed by conduct.

Additionally, even if the acknowledgment had not been conditional on assent to
additional terms, the additional terms would likely not have become part of the contract.
This is because the terms were material alterations of the contract. A term is
considered to be material where it alters or in some way limits the available remedies.
Here, the additional terms disclaimed warranties of fitness and merchantability, and
disclaimed liability for consequential damages. This would severely limit the remedies
available to Bing in the event of breach. Because these were material alterations, they
would not become part of the contract under the UCC.

Consideration

To be valid, a contract must have consideration, which is a bargained-for legal detriment
by both parties or a consideration substitute. A legal detriment may consist of promises
exchanged for each other. Here, if a contract was formed between the parties, there
would be consideration. Super promised to provide 400 gallons of epoxy. If Bing
accepted the contract by conduct, it would become obligated to pay the stated purchase
price. Therefore there was an exchange of promises. Alternatively, if the offer and
acknowledgment formed no contract, a consideration substitute might be found through
promissory estoppel. Promissory estoppel results when a party makes a promise,
intending to induce the reliance of the other party, and the other party foreseeably relies

on that promise to its detriment.



Bing's Suit Against Super

Breach of Contract

The first issue is whether Super breached its contract with Bing. Because Super's
acknowledgment form constituted a counteroffer, which was not accepted by Bing, a
contract could only have been formed by conduct. A cou‘rt would find an implied in fact
contract from the shipment of the goods and payment for the goods. However, the
terms of Super's acknowledgment would not become part of the contract unless
accepted by Bing, which they were not. As a result, Super's disclaimer of warranty and
consequential damages was ineffective. Because the disclaimers were ineffective,
Super's goods would include an implied warranty of merchantability. The implied
warranty of merchantability provides that when a seller of a particular type of goods
sells that good, that the goods will be commercially reasonable and will be fit for the
ordinary purpose for which such goods are used. Here, Super's epoxy failed to harden
properly because of a manufacturing defect. As a result, Super breached the implied

warranty of merchantability.

Under the UCC, shipments of goods are governed by the perfect tender rule. Under the
perfect tender rule, goods must completely conform to the buyer’s specifications or they
may be rejected. Any deviation from the buyer's specifications or from commercial
suitability is a material breach allowing the buyer to reject the goods. A breach of the
implied warranty of merchantability would be a material breach of contract under the
perfect tender rule entitling the buyer to reject the shipment. Because the epoxy did not
harden properly and was defective, Bing was entitled to reject the shipment. Further,
there would be no contract until Bing paid for the goods. Because Bing did not pay for
the goods, there was no enforceable contract except to the extent one was created by
conduct or promissory estoppel. Super's shipment of epoxy would then be construed as
an offer which could be rejected at Bing's discretion.



Super may have also breached the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose.
The implied warranty of fitness provides that when a seller of goods knows of the
particular purpose for which the buyer is using the goods, and the buyer is relying on
the seller's skill and judgment in selecting the goods, that the goods must be fit for the
particular purpose for which they are used. If Bing had informed Super that it was using
the epoxy to make surfboards, and was relying on Super's skill and judgment to furnish
epoxy which would be suitable for the purpose, then Super would breach this contract
when the epoxy was not suitable for use in making surfboards.

Rejection

The next issue is whether Bing properly rejected the shipment of epoxy. A buyer has a
right to inspect the goods before acceptance. Therefore, it was appropriate for Bing to
test the epoxy before determining whether to accept the shipment. A buyer of goods
may reject a shipment of goods by notifying the seller within a reasonable time of the
defect and of intention to reject the goods and returning them. The buyer may accept
all the units, or accept some commercial units and reject the rest. Here, Bing tested the
epoxy and notified Super a little over a week after the shipment. This would probably
constitute a reasonable time after receiving the shipment. Bing returned the defective

goods to Super. Therefore, Bing's rejection of the shipment was proper.
Implied in Law or Implied in Fact Contract

A court might find that there was no contract because Bing rejected the offer created by
Super's shipment of the goods and never paid for them. A court might also find that a
contract existed on the basis of promissory estoppel. Here, Bing notified Super of its
requirements and requested shipment by February 20. Super confirmed that it would
ship the goods by February 20. Super was aware and would be deemed to know that
Bing was using the epoxy in its manufacturing process and might suffer lost profits if the
époxy was defective. Bing relied on this promise to its detriment by not procuring

alternative goods in sufficient time to avoid paying a premium and to avoid shutting



down its production line. Therefore, a court could likely find that a contract was implied
in law by Bing's justifiable reliance on Super's promise to ship the goods by February
20.

On the basis of an implied in law contract, Bing could likely prevail in its suit against
Super because it justifiably relied to its detriment on Super's representation that it would
ship the epoxy by February 20. If, however, a court found that there was no contract,

Bing would not be able to recover any contractual damages.

Damages

Bing would be able to recover compensatory expectation damages from Super for the
breach if there was indeed a contract. Expectation damages are designed to put the
nonbreaching party in the position it would have been in had the other party properly
performed. In a contract for the sale of goods, where the buyer is forced to cover, the
buyer must make a good faith effort to obtain a reasonable replacement within a
reasonable time. The buyer can recover the difference between the cover price and the
contract price. Here, Bing could recover the difference between the price it agreed to

with Super and the cover price.

Bing might also be able to recover consequential damages in the form of lost profits, as
well as incidental damages. To be recoverable, consequential damages must be
certain, foreseeable, and unavoidable. Consequential damages are damages over and
above expectation damages resulting from special circumstances of which the seller
knows at the time of the contract formation. Here, Super was aware that Bing was
using the epoxy in its manufacturing process, and could foresee that Bing might suffer
lost profits if the epoxy was defective. Super was aware of Bing's special
circumstances. Therefore, it would have been foreseeable to Super that Bing might
lose money if the epoxy shipment was defective. Moreover, a supplier is deemed to
know of a manufacturer's requirements if it knows that the manufacturer is using the
goods as part of the manufacturing process. Here, consequential damages would be



measured by the costs expended in manufacturing the 50 defective surfboards, and lost
profits resulting from the inability to sell those surfboards, if Bing could sell as many
surfboards as it could produce and was a lost volume seller. This would be a
sufficiently certain measure of damages because it would be measured by the quantity
and cost of defective surfboards produced, as well as any additional surfboards that
might have been sold but for the breach. Moreover, Bing made every effort to mitigate
its damages and avoid the loss to the extent possible by covering immediately at a
reasonable price and reasonable time. Bing might also have incidental damages in
locating an alternative supplier of epoxy. Therefore Bing could probably obtain lost

profits and incidental damages.

Super's Lawsuit Against Bing

Rejection of Replacement Shipment

Ordinarily when a seller breaches a contract by providing nonconforming goods, the
seller has within the time for performance of the contract to cure the breach. Here,
Super can argue that because Bing was delayed in notifying Super of the breach, it was
not notified within a reasonable time and therefore could not cure within the time for
performance. However, likely a court would find that Super was notified within a
reasonable time. Because the time for performance of the contract had lapsed, Super
had no right to cure the defective shipment. Ordinarily if the seller had reason to believe
that the goods would be acceptable with a reasonable allowance, a reasonable
additional time might be allowed for the seller to cure. But this is not the case here.
Additionally, the fact that Seller was unaware of the manufacturing defects would not

grant it additional time to cure. Therefore, Seller had no right to cure.

Paying Under Contract

Because any contract between Bing and Super would be implied rather than actual,

Bing would not be liable for payment for the goods if it rejected the goods. Even in a



contract formed by mutual assent the buyer would have a right to reject. Further,
Super's disclaimers of warranty would not be effective because Super's counteroffer
was not accepted. Super's disclaimer might be found to be unconscionable as a
contract of adhesion even if it were deemed to have been accepted by Bing. A buyer is
deemed to accept those units of the good that he or she actually uses. Further, in an
implied in fact contract, there is a contract only to the extent of the goods actually
accepted. Therefore, Bing would only be liable for those gallons of epoxy that it used in
testing to manufacture the 50 surfboards. Bing would be deemed to accept that
quantity of epoxy and would have to pay for it. Otherwise, Bing would not be liable

under the contract.

Super is unlikely to prevail in its suit against Bing because there was no mutual assent
to terms of a contract. The contract would be implied in law or implied in fact. Further,
Super could not disclaim its implied warranty of merchantability in an implied contract.
Therefore, Buyer had the right to reject nonconforming shipments, and Super did not

cure within the time for performance. Therefore, Bing will not be liable to Super.





